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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ’
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ¢ Criminal Number: ()77 4 / o
VIOLATION
Y.
. : Count One
CURTIS G. WHITEFORD, : 18 US.C. §371 ,
DEBRA M. HARRISON, : (Conspiracy)
MICHAEL B. WHEELER, :
SEYMOUR MORRIS, JR,, : Count Two
WILLIAM DRIVER, v 18US.C.§§201 and2
: (Bribery)
Defendants. :
‘ : Count Three
: 18 U.5.C. §§ 201 and 2
(Bribery)
: - Count Four
: 18 U.S.C, §§ 201 and 2
T (Bribery) |
- ‘ , : Counts Five through Fifteen
RECEIVED :  1BU.S.C. §§ 1343, 1346 and 2
FEB - ! 2007 : .(Honest Services Wire Fraud)
AT B30 ‘ : Count Sixteen

WILTAM T Wars— ; 18 U.S.C. §§ 2314 and 2
- GLERK : (Interstate Transport of Stolen Property)

: Count Seventeen
- 18 U.S.C. § 2314
3 (Interstate Transport of Stolen Property)
: Count Eighteen
: 18 U.S.C. § 2314
(Interstate Transport of Stolen Property)
: Count Nineteen
: 18 U.S.C. § 2314
‘- : (Interstate Transport of Stolen Property)
: Count Twenty

31U.S.C.§5332 and 18 U.S.C. § 2




: (Bulk Cash Smuggling)

. Counts Twenty-One throngh
. Twenty-Four
: 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(a)(1)(B)(ii) and 2
: (Money Laundering)

: Count Twenty-Five

i 20US.C. §7206(2) ‘ o,
o (Aiding and Assisting in the Preparatinn

K and Presentation of a False and

: Fraudulent Return)

18 U.S.C. §§ 981(a)(1)(c) & 982
26 U.S.C. § 5872

28 U.S.C. § 2461(c)

31 US.C. § 5332

INDICTMENT
The Grand Jury, in and for the District of New Jersey, sitting at Trenton, charges that at

all times relevant to this Indictment: : | ' : )
COUNT ONE
Conspiracy
. 18U.S.C. §371

1. INTRODUCTION

A. , Th alition visio utho

1. In May 2003, thc United States and the Umtcd Kingdom created the Coahtlon Prov:smnal |
Authority (“CPA”) to temporarily exercise powers of government for the Republic of
 Irag. The President of the United States appointed a United States Ambas,.sad.or to scn?c
as‘the United States‘Presidential Envoy to Iraq. Thereafter, the United States Secretﬁry of

Defense designated the U.S. Ambassador/Envoy to serve as the Administrator of the CPA.



and the civil governing authority of Iraq. The CPA was divided into five regions with
each region having aUnitcd States Régional Embassy Office (“US-RE(E)”) and a 'Unitéd
States Ambassador, who served as the regmnal advisor oversccmg the reconstmctmn
efforts and financial expendlture of CPA funds in the region. ' " ‘ ,
In 2003, Congre;s appropriated $698 million in initial funding to thc CPA for its daily -,
l_operatin g budget. Thereafier, the CPA conducted its pperatinns and éwa‘rded contracts |
for projects intended to promote Iraq’s reconstruction from several fundmg sources,
including over $24.1 billion in funds appropr'iatad in 2003 and 2004 by Congress from
the General'Fﬁnds of the United States as well as $2.1 billion in repatriated Iraql funds
that were confiscated by the United States during the Gulf War in 1990. The United
States deposited $210 million of 'the_ repaltriated funds into a CPA account hom as the

Development Fund for Iraq (“DFI”) which also held over $1 billion in Iragi funds derived

from Dil. for Food sales. All of these CPA funds \;'reré designated for the promotion of
reconstruction projects in Iraq and administered by and under the authority of the
Administrator and the United S'tates Army..

The CPA was primarily staffed by Department of Dcfense (" ‘DOD”) employeea mcludlng
civilians and members of the mlhtary forces detailed to the CPA ag well as DoD
 contractors and subcontractors who were responsible for the management, pccoﬁntnlg,
and expenditure of CPA funds. |

The United States Army and the United States Army Reserve were components of the |

DoD.



B. The Defendan],g:
Defendant CURTIS G. WHITEFORD was a Colonel in the United States Army Reserve,
who resided in Utah, From at least in or about Septembcr 2003 until at least in or about
July 2004, WHITEFORD served on active duty for the U 5. Army and was assigned to
the US-REQ in the CPA’s South Central (“CPA SC”) region in Al-Hlllah Irag.
W]ﬂTEFORD’s duties included, among others, serving as the Chief of Staff and Deputy
Regional Advisor for the CPA-SC. In this capacity, WHITEFORD served as th;z second
most senior official at the CPA-SC and was respunsible for supervising CPAfSC
personnel, who ;alwardéd cunfracts related to the reconstruction of iraq and made
payments for the CPA-SC in al-HiuaLh Ir:iq and elsewhere WHITEFORD had
supemsnry responmbﬂlty for and oversaw the contracting processes for all CPA-SC
projects, including project development, selection, funding, and tracking spendmg of
CPA-SC funds for CPA-SC expenditures. WI-HTEFORD had direct responsibility for
running ;hé CPA-SC offices ﬁnd, from time to time, served as the Regional Ambassador’s
liaison between contractors and the Cf’A and between the CPA and Iraqi nationals
Defendant DEBRA M. HARRISON was a Lleutcnant Colonel in the Umted States Amy
Reserve, who resided in Trenton, New Jersey. From at least in or about February 2003
unul at least in or about July 2004, HARR_ISON served on active duty for the . S Amy
' !
and was assigned to a U.S. Ammy Civil Affairs until approximately April 2004, when she
| was reassigned to the US-REQ in the CPA-SC region in al-Hiliah, Irag, where she |
remained until at least in or about July i004. At the CPA-SC, HARRISON sﬁrved as the

- Deputy Comptroller and, for a period, as the acting Comptroller for the CPA-5C, in




10,

which capacity she oversaw the expenditure of CPA funds for Iraq reconstruction projects

by the CPA-SC.
Defendant MICHAEL B. WHEELER was a Licutenant Colonel in the United States
Army Reserve who resided in Wisconsin.. From at least in or about October 2003 unti] at

least in or about July 2004, WHEELER servr:d on active duty for the U S Amny and was |

‘assigned to the US-REQ in the CPA-SC region in al-Hillah, Iraq. WHEELER served as

the Deputy Civil Administrator and Deputy Chief of Staff for the CPA-SC. In these
capacities, WHEELER served as an adfisor and projé_ct officer on CPA prpj:cts for the
raconstmctioﬂ df Iraq.‘ His duties, ambng‘ uthers,,inclﬁded recommending the e'xpendimre _
of CPA funds for CPArsponsdred projects, ensuring that awarded contracts had bemi
satlsfactonly performed, and fac:htatmg payments to contractors for services performed

on the awarded cnntracts

Defendants HARRISON and WHEELER worked under the supervision ahd direction of

defendanl WHITEFORD.

Defendant SEYMDUR MORRIS, JR. was a United States citizen, who owned and

operated a Cyprus-based financial services business and resided in Romama.
C. The Co-Conspira

Robert Stein (“S‘tein”) wﬁs a DnD contract employee who served in various positions at

the CPA-SC from in or about November 2003 until in or about June 2004, including

Comptroller and Funding Officer, under the supervision and direction of defendant
WHITEFORD. Stein controlled the expendifure of at least $82 milfion in funds that were

to be used for the payment of contract services rendered in al-Hiltah, Iraq, for the
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12,
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1

rebuilding of Iraq by the CPA-SC. Stem disbursed cash to CPA project officers and

contractors that rece:ved contracts from the CPA.

Pthp Bloom (“Bloorn ") was a Umted States citizen, Frorn in or about November 2003
through in or about 2005, Bloom operated and controlled construction and service ,
compariies, moludmg Global Business Group, in Iraq, Romania, and elsewhere that did
business W1th the CPA, DoD and other U.S. agencies in Iraq and elsewhere

Bruce D. Hopfengardner (“Hopfengardner™) was a Lieutenant Colonel in the United
States Army Reserve. From in or about August 2003 unti] in or about June 2004

Hopfen gardner served on active duty for the U.S. An-ny and was ass:gned to the US-REOQ

in the CPA-SC region in al-Hillah, Iraq. Hopfengardner served as a pro_]eet ot‘ﬁeer under-

the supervision and direction of defendant WHITEFORD, and his duties moluded among

others reoommendmg the expenditure of CPA funds by CPAwSC ofﬂcmls for CPA
contracis related to the reconstruetton of Irsq, as well as overseeing and nianaging CPA-
SC seeurlty and the proourement of eqmprnent and wespons for the loeal Iraql poltee |
force.

D. "‘lP Contracti d tR es

In order to enter into contracts and award grants for the rehmldmg of Irsq the CPA used

| both DoD and CPA-speotﬁo eontractmg forms and proeedures The CPA promulgatod its

procedures in several CPA Contracting Mernorsnda which mirrored the competition,
trsnspareney, and accountability standards applieable to federally-funded DoD eontraots.

The CPA required that all oont:rao‘ts valued over $500,000 be reviewed by the CPA
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Program Review Board in Baghdad, Iraq. Contracts under $500,000 could be approved
by the regional CPA offices, such as the CPA-SC. | | |
DoD and CPA regulations prohibited ’military personmnel ﬁ'bm accepting gifts or otﬂ:r
things of value from contractors doing business with boD or the CPA .‘ .
| H.‘ THE SPI | “ |
From in or about Decéniber 2003 through m or about December 2005, in the District of
New J mey, the Republic of Irag, and elsewhere, the Defeﬂdaﬁts, |
CURTIS G. WHITEFORD,
DEBRA M. HARRISON,
MICHAEL B. WHEELER, and
SEYMOUR MORRIS, JR.,
did lmowmgly conspire, cnnfederate and agree w1th Bloom Hopfengardner Stein, and
other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenscs agamst the
United States, that is, to; | | o }
a directly and indirecﬂy, corruptly demand, seek, receive, accept, and ag_l'ée'to :
receive and accept things of vélué that is, among other thjngs, busiﬂess c]assl
* plane tickets, real estate, liquor, a sports car, sport utlllty vehmles, a motorcycle a
'~ recreational vehicle, weapons, tactical gear, Jewelry, money, and empluyrnent

from Bloom, in return for being influenced in the performance of oﬁicial aots in

violation'of 18 U.8.C. § 201;

b. devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice fo defraud and to deprive the

United Stat'qs and the CPA of money, property, and their intangible right to the

- honest services of DoD officials assigned to and working for and with the CPA




16.

17.

+

through the use of the mail and inf:erstatc wires, in vi.cilatiun c;f 18 US.C. §§ 1341,
1343, and 1346; |

transport, transmit, and transfef' in interstate and .fﬁrcign commerce goods, wares,
merchandise, securities and money, of thé value of $5,000 or more knowing the, ‘

same {0 have been stolen, converted and taken by fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. .

- §2314; and

knowingly receive and possess firearms not registered to them in the National

Firearms Registration and Transfer Record, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 5861(d).

1. PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY

The purpose of the conspiracy was for WHITEFORD, HARRISON, WHEELER,

MORRIS, Bloom, Hopfengardner, Stein, and their cu-conspiratnrs.to enrich and rewérd

themselves, each other, and entities under Bloom'’s control, by committing criminal

offenses against the United States, and to conceal the conspiracy and its ebjects and the

acls undgrtaken in furtherance of it.

IV. MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

To further the objects and goals of the conspiracy, WHITEFORD, HARRISON,

WHEELER, MORRIS, Bloom, Hopfengardner, Stein, and their co-conspirators would,

a.

 amiong other things, do the following;:
. , .

Recommend at least twenty-seven CPA construction projects in Iraq that were
steered to Bloom and his companies through a rigged bidding pmccsé;

Use ofﬁcial'positic:ns to cause, or authorize, payment of over $8,000,000 by the

- CPA to Bloom and his companies.

B



Structure the contracts awarded to Bloom and his companies in amounts under
$500 000, which was the dollar limit of all CPA-SC contractmg officers’
contractmg authonty, and avmd scrutiny by the CPA’s contract rewew board and
its auditors in Baghdad, Iraq, and others, _ o | o | ’
Rig the bids on the confracts to allow Bloom to spbmit botﬁ legifiinate and fake
‘bids on CPA-SC contracts in order td conceal the éantraét transactions with
Bloom and his r;ompanics.. |
Solicit and accept money and othier things of irplue, including, among othe'r'ﬂiingé,
busincsé class plane tickets, real estate, liquor, a sports car, sport utility vehicles, a
motorcycle, a racreatmnal vehicle, weapons, tactical gear, jewelry, money, and
employment from Bloom in remm for taking or refraining from takmg official
action that was favorable to Bloom and his companies.
Stea), convert, or obtain by fraud over Sl,‘?OU,OUO from the CPA that was
designated for use in the reconstruction of Iraq and smuggle at least $500,600 of
the stolen ﬁﬁds into the United St‘ates for persdnal benefit, |
Provide Bloom with stolen CPA-SC funds to be used for the purchase of things of |
value for WHITEFORD, HARRISON, WHEELER, Stein, Hopfeﬁgardncr and
other CPA-SC officials, | | | -
Cause over $1 million in wire transfers, mcludmg stolen CPA funds, to be sent to

or for the benefit of the co-conspirators, including I-IARRISON MORRIS, Stein,

Hopfengardner, and others or their spouses or persons acting on their beha]f,




o drawn on Bloom’s accounts or accounts under his control in Iraq, Romania,

Switzerland, the United States, and elsewhere.

i. Obtain weapons purchased with stolen CPA funds and convert them to their
personal use, . ‘ ‘ '_ - '
j. Conceal the bid-rigging scheme by creating ﬁ'audulent receipts and other contract |

documents that were pmﬁdad to CPA auditors.
V. OVERT ACTS -
In furtherance of the consplracy and to achieve its purposes, WHITEFORD HARRISON
' WHEELER MORRIS B]oom Hopfengardner Stem and others committed the followmg overt
acts, among others, in the District of New Jersey, the Republic of Irag, and elsewhm:
18. On or about December 31, 2d03, Bloom lle-mailed Stein, telling Stein that Bléom had
already sent funds f‘or the purchasc of watches for Stein and others and would check on.
the status of the payment : | | P
19, | On or about January 1, 2004, Bloom e-mailed Stein, dii'ecting him to “linc up
[WHEELER] and get [Hopfengardner] on n board.”
| 20, Onor about January 2, 2004, Stein e-mailed B]oom tcllmg hun “[b]ctwr.en Mike
[WHEELER] myself and the Corps of Engmeers we should be able to develop the smpr,s '
of work to makc sure thmgs line up 10 you! I gave the Corps guys e:ach a plstol torught to
make sure they were on board and to thank them for their help ” |
21. | On or about January 3, 2004, Stcm e-mailed Bloom, telling him, “FYT, [WHEELER] hnd
I got the contract th'rough'of rhte (sic) ground prep at the ﬁolice acﬁadémy. I will give you

200K sometime tomorrow afternoon! Ilove to give you money.”

10



22!

23,

- 24,

25.

26.

27,

28,

29,

On or about January 7, 2004, Bloom e-mailed WHEELER, informing him that Bloom

would provide WHEELER with bottles of llquor and askmg WHEELER for favorable '
official actmn in getting Bioom curm'acts and payments from the CPA.. -

On or about January 7, 2004, WHEELER accepted bottles of liguor from Blmﬁ inal- ,
Hilah, Irag | '- -
On or about January 13, 2004, Stein e-mailed Bloom, prowdmg Bloom with Stein’s bank
account information and the bank’s address i in North Carolma

On or about January 14, 2004, Stein e-mailed Bloom, telling him, “T 3poke w:th

'WHEELER and he smd he still needed [the] rest nf the mformatmn on the next part of the

pohce academy so he can finish it up. I'would like to get that one awarded to you ASAP
then we can start [on] the next part.”

On or about January 14, 2004, Bloom e-mailed WHEELER, informing him that he had

additional liquor for WHEELER and that he would deliver the liquor‘ to WHEELER

himself and asking WHEELER for favorable official action in getting Bloom contracts
and payments from the CPA.
On or about J anuary 14, 2004 WHEELER accepted bottles of hquor ﬁom Blonm inal-

Hillah, Iraq.

On or‘about Jamllary 15, 2004, Bloom.wii'e transferred $30,000 from his hccounts in Iraq
‘to Stein’s bank account in North Carolina,

. On or about January 22, 2004, WHEELER, at Bloom’s request, allowed Bloom to

mislead CPA-SC officials about a CPA project he was peffonning‘by using photographs

11




" 30.

31.

32.

33.

from another CPA project to describe work accomplished by Bloom’s companies in order

for Bloom to secure additional CPA: work.

On or about January 26, 2004, Bloom e-mailed WHEELER a bid proposal for a CPA-SC

contract. : — ‘ ‘ S y

On or abom January 26, 2004, WHEELER ¢-mailed Bloom, infonning‘Blloom that his Bid ,
ona CPA-SC cnntract had to be in the name of one uf Bluom s other companies in un:lr:r
for WHEELER to award the contract to Bloum | |

Onor about January 26, 2004, Stein signe.d a DoD ngndard Form 1449 mntracjt_‘with a |
U.S. arms manufachn‘er based in Sterling, Virginia that provided that the CPA-SC would
purchase weapons that were to be déliw:red to Fort Bragg, North Carolina, inciﬁding, o
among others: four grenade lauhcheré; t;vemty ﬁl]y automatic machine guns, twelve
assault rifles; twelve handglms; and silencers. |

On or about the following dates in 2004, as set out below, WHEELER submitted
numerous ‘CPA funding requests for constmﬂion work to be performed in al-Hillah, Iraq
by Bloom and his companies pursuanf to CPA-SC contracts, and mefeaﬁer, WHEELER
signed numerous Certiﬁcates of Comp]etion cm‘tifﬁng that‘ the work on thesé CPA-SC

contracts was “satisfactorily comp]cted" and that Bloom or his companies should be pmd

even though B]onm had not fully performed thc contracts The total value of thc
following fundmg requests submitted by WHEELER for CPA-SC com:racts payable to

_ Bloom was approximately $1,700,000.

12
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~ Date | Contract | Contracted Services - | Offictal Action = 4% *
No. - _ | Sybmission of Document -
January2,2004 | 8003 | Radio Studio Construction | Request Form |
January 3, 2004 8016 | Police Academy Building | Request Form
Demolition ' )
January §, 2004 8023 Regional Tribal Center Request Form
January 15, 2004 8063 Generator | Request Form
January 17, 2004 8064 Po]ice'Academy Classroom | Request Form
Construction ' |
January 22, 2004 8070 | Police Academy Office . Request Form
‘ . Building-Water Systemn ‘
January22,2004 | 8069 | Police Academy Security Request Form
o Wall o ‘
January 26,2004 ‘| 8136 | Babylon Foot Bridge | Request Form
. January 31,2004 | 8089 | Mobile Command Post Certification of Completion
January 31,2004 | 8091 | Mobile Command Post . - | Certification of Completion
February1,2004 | 8092 | Police Academy Conference | Request Formi
- Living Quarters
February 1, 2004 8093 Police Academy Living Request Form
. & : Quarters
February 19,2004 | 8167 | Demolition Ba’ath Party Certification of Completion
: Headquarters D :
February 19, 2004 8165 Karbala Generator . Certification of Completion
February 19,2004 | 8165 | Karbala Generator Request Form . |
February 20,2004 | 8169 | Karbala Women's Center | Request Form '
February 23,2004 | 8169 | Building Improvements Certification of Completion
February 24,2004 | 8174 | Tribal Democracy Center | Request Form |
o B Office Fumiture _
February 26, 2004 8174 | Tribal Democracy Center Certification of Completion
' Office Furniture ’

13




'March 3, 2004 8023 | Tribal Democracy Center | Certification of Completion
March 28,2004 | 8345 | Karbala Library Internet RequestForm -
March 28,2004 | 8339 | Karbala Library Repairs Request Form
March 29, 2004 8342 | Karbala Library Landscaping Request Form
March 29,2004 | 8343 | Karbala Library Fumitare | Request Form "
‘March 30, 2004 8092 | Generator - Sleeping Certification of Completion
: Quarters ' .
March 30, 2004 8090 | Tribal Democracy Center Certification of Completion
o ' Generator
April 30,2004 - | 8023-2 | Regional Tribal Center 2 . Request Form
June 16,2004 | None | Pool | | Request Form
June 16, 2004 8265 S_ecuﬁty Facility Upgrades Certification of Complétion
~ June 16, 2004 8169 | Karbala Women’s Center | Request Form |
" June 18, 2004 8169 | Karbala Women’s Center | Certification of Completion
~ June 18, 2004 8136 | Mobile Foot Bridge Certification of Completion
34.  Omorabout February 4, 2004, Stein e-mailed Bloom, providing him w:th the bankmg

. 35,

36,

mfonnatnon for an arms manufacturer in Mlinois and mfurm:ng Bloum that Stem would

be providing Bloom with additional banking information for other arms manufacturers in

the United States.

On or about February 18, 2004, Bloom e-mailed Stein, conﬁrming that Bloom had named

Stein Vice Preéicilent of Operations for one of Bloom’s companies.

On or about February 19, 2004, Stein ¢-mailed Bloom, tel]ing Bloom that Stein had

received several high-end Bfeitling watches that Bioom had purchased and had sent to

Stein.

14




37

- 38.

39,

40,
41.

42

43.

-44,

43,

On or about February 19, 2004, Stein e-mailed Bloom, confinming that, as he and Bloom
had agreed, Stein had given a $3,200 Breitling watch to Hopfengardner,

On or about February 1 9, 2004, Stein ¢-mailed Bloom, stating that Stein was going to

give a Breitling watch to WHITEFORD, and asking if Bloom agrcedﬁat they should .

give WHITEFORD a Breitling watch.

On or about Fcbruafy 19, 2004, Bloom e-mailed a Tesponse to Stein, confirming that
B]oom agreed that Stein should give a Breitling watch to WHITEFORD _

In or about F cbljua:y 2004, WHITEFORD. ac‘cepted'a' $3,200 Breitiing watch ﬁ-nm Stein
that was paid for by Bloom. |

In or about February 2004, WHITEFORD accepted $10,000 in stolen CPA-SC funds
from Stein. o | |

On or about February 29, '2004, WHITEFORD appointed Stein to be rcspdnsible for
monitoring, assistance, pmjects and program manﬁgement in police issues for the CPA-
$C, including equipment distribution and accountability,

In or about February 2004 WHITEF DRD used stolen CPA funds to purchase a round-tnp
busmess class ticket for hxs retum to lus home in Utah |

In or about Februa:y 2004, WHITEFORD trave]ed to the United States and carried w:th

~ him several thuusand U 5. dollars given to th by Stem from stolen CPA-SC ﬂmds

which he then provided to his spouse.
In or about March 2004, Hopfengardner accepted a $3,000 Toshiba laptop computer for

his personal nse ﬁ-om Stem paid for by Bloom with stolen CPA-SC funds.

15




'46.  In or about March 2004, WHITEFORD accepted a $3,000 Toshiba laptop computer for
his personal use from Stein paid for by Bloom with stolen CPA;SC ﬁlods.
- 47, Gn or about Marco 3,2004, Stein o—moi]ed Blooin, confirming that WHITEFORD had
 the CPA-SC project list and that WHITEFORD had recently been in Stem s office talkmg
to Stein about assisting Bloom with Bloom’s dovclopment of an airline company m Iraq ,
48. Onor about March 3, 2004, Bloom e-mailed a response to Stein, explaining that
WHITEFORD had the CPA-SC projoot list and that WHITEFORD should oo oxoitod that
Bloom and Stein were setting WI-IfTEFDRD up in a new business. -
49.  On or about Mafch 6, 2004, Bloom e-mailed WIHFEFORD, offeﬁng him a job as |
president of a new airline company fhat Bloom was creating in Iraq, | |
50.  On or about March 6, 2004, W]-]]TEFORD e—mailed a response to ‘Blo,om, ﬁp]ﬁﬂng that
WHITEFDRD could not oocopt the job while on active duty but agreed to assist Bloom
with the airline oomj:any by agreoing to “go to Baghdad and search out the appropriate
ofﬁces/mﬁlistrios and processes for obtaining permits/licenses for operations, landing
rights, FBOs, etc,” |
51.. Onor about March 6, 2004, WHITEFDRD again &mmlod Bloom, assunng Bloom that
- WHITEFORD was still 1nterestod in the alrlmo company job and that WHITEFORD was
éoins to ossist ‘B.Ioom in obtaining lioonsosla.nd permits and help Eloom gcf the company
f‘off‘ the ground.” | | |
52.  On or about March 25, 2004, WHITEFORD e-mailed Hopfengardner, Stein, and another
| DoD official, advising them that the name of a private seourity company to be ‘run by

WHITEFORD, Bloom, Stein, Hopfengardner, and others was “Anaconda” and that the

’

16




- 53.

54.

33

56.

7.
58.

59.

“[k]ey objectives of the company are rpaking money while allowing us to look cool and :
have cool stuff. That ought to be easy to do.”

On or about Marcﬁ 27,2004, WHITEI;'ORD c-mai]ed. Stein, informing Stein that |
WHITEFORD wanted a business class ticket to travel from Iraq to his home in Salt Lake
City, Utah with a departure date of May 22, ZOM. | |

On or about March 29, 2004, Stein forwarded to Bloom WI-IITEFDRD’s e-mai]
rcqucsting a business-class ticket home and provided Bloom with a pmpusadﬁck# and

flight schedule for Bloom to purchase fur WHITEFORD.

On or about March 29, 2004, Bloom wire transferred $140,000 from his bank account in

Romania to a real estate company’s escrow bank account in North Carolina‘fm; the benefit
of Stein. |

On or about March 30, 2004, Hopfengardner e-mailed WHITEFDRD, Stein, and another |
DoD official, advi sihg fhcm about obtaining severﬁl'e-mail addrcsscs for them touseto
help manage a private security company to be run by WHITEFORD, Bloom, Stein,
Hopfengardner, and ﬁthem. _ |

In or about Aprii 2004, Stein smuggled in excess of §1 17,00ﬁ in stolen CPA funds from
Iraq info the United States. h | |

In or about April 2004, Bloom, through one of his companies, purchased a business class

airline ticket for WHITEFORD with stolen CPA funds.

~ On or about April 5, 2004, WHITEFORD, at Stein’s direction, signed a letter on CPA-SC

letterhead in his capacity as Chief of Staff which authorized the purchase w:th CPA-SC

17



- 60.

61.

62.

63.

funds of numerous firearms and grenade launchers to be shipped to Ft. Bragg, North
Carolina.

On or about April 5, 2004, in a weapons puréhase authorization letter, WHITEFORD

 certified that he was “authorized to order, purchase, and receive” the weapons and that |
- the weapons were by and for the CPA when WHITEFORD knew that the weapons were

to be converted in part for a private security company run by WHITEFORD, Bloom, |

Stein, Hopfengardner, and others. |

On or about Aprii 5, 2004, WHITEFORD, at Stein’é directidn, signed a letter guﬂ:oﬁzing
the purchases of numerous weapons including ﬁvo sniper rifles that were purchased in the
names of others in Minnesota and Wisconsin .and uitimately convertdd to thg‘pérmnal use
of Stein and WI-iEELER in North Camliﬁla and Wisconsin.

On or about April 9, 2004, WHITEFORD, at Stein’s direction, sigﬁed a leﬁer in llli's
official capacity authorizing the ;ﬁurchasc of firearms and rclated equipmeht knowing that
these weaﬁons and equipmeni were actually being diveﬁed in part for a private security
company run by WHITEFORD, Bluoﬁl, Stein, Hopfengardner, and others. -

On or about April 22, 2004, WHITEFORD met wiﬂl HARﬁISDN in al-Hillah, Iraq to

ensure that she had prepared the CPA-SC’s books in advance of a CPA Inspectdr General

' audit of all contracts and disbursements of funds for the CPA-SC scheduled for early May |

2004, |
On or about April 28, 2004, MORRIS wire transferred $60,000 for Bloom from his bank
accoumnt In Cyj:rus tc; an automobile dealer’s bank account m North Carolina for the

hc;lcﬁt of Stein.
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On or about May 5, 20()4, Bloom wire transferred $10,000 from his bank account in Iraq

to Hopfengardner’s b'ank account in Califomia.

On or about May 7, 2004, Bloom e-ma:led MORRIS, informing him that he wantad to

| purchase a 2004 GMC Yukon Denall for $40,000 and that he would pay MORRIS a

$5,000 commission.

On or about May 9, 2004, Stein e-mailed Ho.pfengardner, .stating, “With things wmdmg
down we need to make surc [Bloom] gets 10 - 12 sets of Everyﬂﬁng. Vests, hehmf.:ts 80 |
on and so forth. Remember, you have 400 sets of camcrs reroute (sic) and .sho.uld be there
any day. We néed to talk about a few other things mo;"

On or about Majv 12, 2004, WHITEFQRD e-mailed aﬁother DoD official telling him, “th'¢ -
fact that all the mcmej was nutdisbursmi isa gobd thing at this point. Betwéen . . Stein
we need to nail down the exact numbers for each grant. Having done that; we marry the
money with thé files and, voila, we move on tb the next crisis.” '

On or about May 19, 2004, at Stein’s direction, HARRISON took approximately .
$420,000 in U.S. ﬁmds from the CPA-SC office and hid thr. money in her nfﬁcml
residence in al—Hlllah Iraq. |

On or about May 21, 2004, WHITEFORD reccived a 8 round-rip business class ticket for

travel from Kuwalt to Salt Lake City, Utah, obtained for him thmugh Stcu:l and paad for

by Bloom with sto]en CPA funds.
On or about May 26, §004, WHITEFORD e-mailed CPA-SC staff, inc]uding '
HARRISON, informing them that members of the CPA Inspector General audit team

would be visiting the CPA-SC the following day to review CPA-SC contract and grant
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73.

74.

75.

76.

77.

ﬂanding records, telling the staff, “T got this at 8:09 PM tonight. Apparently they will be
here turﬁorrow for a short time. Nothing I can do to prepare you other 'than what we've
already done.” |

On or about May 30, 2004, WHITEFORD e-mai]ed Blodm, providing Bloom information
about Bloom starting up an aiﬂiné and statiﬁg, “I hope this is helpﬁ.ﬂ' and ieads to the ,
right answers. . .. If I can stop in the FAA office again for you let mé know.”

On or about May 31 , 2004, WHITEFORD ¢-mailed Bloom, providing a detailed |

description of a 350 Z Nissan sports car that WHITEFORD wanted Bloom to pui‘chasc

for him and telling Bloom, “q apprf:ciaté your help with this and your help while in Iraq.”

Omn or about May 31, 2004, Bloom e-mailed MORRIS, instructing him to loqate; a Nissan' |
350 Z sports car and have it delivered to WHITEFORD in Rilveﬂoh, Utah. |

On or about June 1,‘2'004, HARRISON e-mailed Stein, WHITEFQRD am.:l‘x-‘lnothcr CPA-
SC official, relaying WHEELER ’s inability to find contract receipfs aﬁd stating that she
hoped to have left the CPA-8C by the thng ﬂlc‘CPA’s Inspector General returned to the -
CPA-SC t.o‘con‘duct a full audit of the CPA-SC’s contracting,. | |

On or about June 1, 2004, a CPA-SC official e-mailed WHITEFORD, asking him what
he wanted her and HARRISON to do about ﬁ contractor’s request for payment and the
iack of re;:cipts' t})at WHEELER had mcntioﬁcd in an iniﬁal e-mail to her aﬁd |
HARRISON |

On or about June 1, 2004, WHITEFORD e¢-mailed the CPA-SC official, WHEELER, land
HARRISON, instrulcting them to work with other CPA«SC officials to “see if they can

scare up some receipts” to satisfy the contractor and the CPA Inspector General’s audit
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On or about June 2, 2004, WHITEFORD e-mailed Bloom, asking Blno;n fora Sport '
Uity Vebicle | | i

On or about June 2, 2004, Bloom e-mailed Stem, statmg that he had buught a GMC .
Yukon for Hopfengardner but that WHITEFORD was on]y gettmg a lesan 350 Z sports
car, because WHITEFORD had not been able to get Bloom all of the av:atmn licenses
necessary to startup Bloom’s airline company.

On or about June 2, 2004 Bloom wire transferrcd $35 0(]0 from his bank account in Iraq

to Hopfengardner’s bank account in Cahforma

In or about June 2004, WH]TEFORD prepared an official CPA memorandum authorizing’

Stein to transport at Jeast $250 000 in cash from the CPA-SC back to the Umtad States,

In or about June 2004, Stem smuggled in excess of $100,000 in stolen CPA funds ﬁ'pm ‘

Ifaq into the United States.

On or about June 8, 2004, a CPA official e-mailed WHITEFORD, HARRISON, Stein,

and other CPA'ofﬁcials inform‘ing them that the CPA Inspector General audit team was

arriving at the CPA-SC on June 12, 2004 and was plamung on maetmg with

HARRISON, Stein, and othc:r CPA officials about CPA-SC' contracting.

~ On or about Jun‘e 9, 2004, in response to an e-mail to WHITEFORD .Stein and others

about the CPA Inspectnr General audit team visit, Stein e-mailed WHITEFORD
dlscussmg CPA-SC contracting and funding records and stating, “1 hope I have your total
support in recnfymg anythmg the [audit] team might come across. .

On or about June 13, 2004, HARRISON authorized the payment of $35,000 in CPA
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- high-end vehicle opticms.‘
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funds on a CPA-SC contract for the construction of the Babylon Foot Bridge, to GBGLD,
a compary controlled by Bloom.

On or about June 15, 2004, at the request and dir'ection of Stein and Bloom, HARRISON,

 while serving as Acting Comptroller for the CPA-SC, provided WHEELER with .

approximately $150,000 in CPA funds to pay Bloom on a CPA-SC project which Bloom

‘had not performed,

On or about June 18, 2004, HARRISON anthorized the payment of $36,000 in CPA
funds on a CPA-SC contract for improvements to the Women’s Rights Center, to Global
Business Group; a company controlled by Bloom. |

On or about June 20, 2004, WHITEFORD contacted MORRIS and mfurmed hnn that
WH]TEFDRD wanted the lesan 350Z sports car being pu;rchascd for him by Bloom to
be the touring model with manual transmission, cargo convenience package, and other ‘
On or about June 20, 2004, WHITEFORD e-mailed Bloom, asking Bloom when
WHITEFORD could expect Bloum to purchase and deliver the 350 z sports car to
WHITEFORD in Utah, | |

On or about June 26, 2004, Bloom e-malled WHITEFDRD telling him that MORRIS

had found the ¢ar that WHITEFORD wanted and mstructed WHITEFDRD to have

i

Hopfengardner contact Bloom.

On or about July 2, 2004, HARRISON and WHEELER smuggled at least $330,000 in

stolen CPA funds from Iraq to New York aboard a commercial business class flight paid

for by Bloom with stolen CPA-8C funds.
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On or about July 2, 2004, during their travel from Iraq to New York and then to North

Carolina, HARRISON paid for WHEELER’s hotel accommodations in Kuwait and North
Carolina with stolen CPA funds. | |

On or about iuly 2, 2004, WHEELER accepted $1,000 in stolen CPA ‘fu,nds ﬁ‘om .
HARRISON. o - R
On or about July 2, '20l04, Stein e-mailed HARRISON, discussing HARRISON’s

providing $1,000 in stolen CPA funds to WHEELER and adviéing HARRiSON to keep
WHEELER “undercontrol (sic) with the pick up of items. . . . - |

On or ai)out Jul}.r 3, 2004, Stein g-mailedHARRISﬁN; discussing HARRISON’s and .
WHEELER’s smuggling cash into the United States. |

On or about July 3, 2604, Stein e-rnailed HARRISON, reassuring HARRISDN that their - -

scheme to smuggle stolen CPA funds into the United States would not be discovcréd by

authorities.

On or about July 6, 2004, Bloom wire transferred $25,000 from his account in Iraq to a

bank account in North Carolina for the benefit of Stein. |

On. or about July 7, 2004, WHEELER in North Carolina tobk posséssion of nuxﬁerous
weapons and related weapoﬁi-y that were aﬁthorized for puréhase by WHITEFORD and
Stein, including, at ]casi, eleven haﬁdg_uns, four sileua:ré, thirty-uné aufom#tic machine
guns, and four greﬁade launchers, none of which were i'egistered to WﬁEELER .in the |
ﬁational Firearms Registration and Transfer Record and were paid for by Bloom vﬁth

stolen CPA funds, and trahsported them to his hotel room in the'Féyetteville, North

Carolina area.
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On or about July 10 2004, WHEELER, HARRISON and Stein transported weapons,
including, at least, eleven handguns, four silencers, thn‘ty -one automanc machine guns,
and four grenade laun(:hf:.rs none of whlch were rcgistercd to them in the Natmnal
Firearms Reg; stration and Transfer Record and were paid for by Eloom with stolen CPA
funds, from WHEELER ’s hote] room in Fayetteville, North Camlina' to Stein’s garage at
his hcm-lm‘in Hope Mills, North Carolina.

On or about July 10, 2004, at Stein's residence in Hope Nﬁﬂs,Nﬂr&h Carolina,
WHEELER took possession of at least three handguns two automat:lc assault nfl&s and
one silencer ﬁ'om Stein, which were not reglstered to WI-[EELER in the National
Firearms Registration and Transfer Record. |

On or about July 10, 2004,‘at Stein’s resi;ience in Hope Mills, North Cafolinﬁ, .
HARRiSON took posseséion of two handguns from Stein

In or about July 2004, WHEELER tmnsportad the weapons he accepted fmm Stein from
Nurth Carohna to WHEELER s home in Wlsconsm

In or about July 2004, HARRISON transported the weapons she accepted from Stein

from North Carohna to HARR_ISON s home in Trenton, New Jersey.

Fl

Onor about July 23, 2004, HARRISON ¢-mailed Bloom, tellmg him “Bob [Stem] let me

I am you (sic) (as well as Bob’s), so if you ever need me to do somelhing for you don’t
hesitate to ask,”
On or about July 24; 2004, Bloom e-mailed HARRISON, informing her that he was in the

process of providing her with a vehicle.
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On or about July 26, 2004, Stein, at HARRISON's request, mailed narcotic prescription
drugs from North Carolina to HARRISON in Trenton, New Jersey.

On or about August 3, 2004, Bloom ¢-mailed HARRISON, informing her that he was
sending her descriptions of three cars and for her to choose the one she wanted.

On or about August 5, 2004, MORRIS e-mailed Bloom and told him that he had found a
car for HARRISON,

On or about August 5, 2004, Bloom e-mailed MORRIS, providing MORRIS with
HARRISON’s e-mail and telling him to contact her to see if she liked the vehicle that
MORRIS had found for HARRISON.

On or about August 6, 2004, MORRIS ¢-mailed Bloom, telling him that the car that
HARRISON wanted was in Trenton, New Jersey and that it cost $48,788.

On or about August 6, 2004, Bloom e-mailed MORRIS, responding that Bloom would
pay the quoted price for HARRISON’s vehicle and that Bloom was wiring $55,000 to
MORRIS’s bank account.

On or about August 7, 2004, HARRISON e-mailed MORRIS, Bloom, Stein, and another
person, telling MORRIS that she was at an automobile dealership in Trenton, New J ersey
and was attaching banking instructions to her e-mail for MORRIS to use to wire money to
the automobile dealer’s bank account.

On or about August 9, 2004, HARRISON mailed approximately $30,000 in stolen CPA
funds from Trenton, New Jersey to Stein in North Carolina,

On or about August 10, 2004, MORRIS wire transferred $9,348 for the benefit of

HARRISON from his bank account in Cyprus to an automobile dealer’s bank account in
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Trenton, New J EIsey.

On or about August 17, 2004, HARRISON e-mailed Bloom and Stein, offering to help
Bloom account for weapons at the CPA-SC and advising Bloom not to worry about a
United States Department of State audit of weapons at the CPA-SC.

On or about August 19, 2004, MORRIS wire transferred $9,348 for the benefit of
HARRISON from his bank account in Cyprus to an automobile dealer’s bank account in
Trenton, New Jersey.

On or about August 20, 2004, HARRISON e-mailed MORRIS, discussing MORRIS
sending wire transfers to an automobile dealer in Trenton, New J ersey in amounts under
$10,000 for the benefit of HARRISON.

On or about August 24, 2004, MORRIS wire transferred $9,348 for the benefit of
HARRISON from his bank account in Cyprus to an automobile dealer’s bank account in
Trenton, New Jersey.

On or about August 24, 2004, MORRIS wire transferred $9,348 for the benefit of
HARRISON from his bank account in Cyprus to an automobile dealer’s bank account in
Trenton, New Jersey.

On or about August 24, 2004, MORRIS e-mailed Stein, confirming that HARRISON’s
car had been paid for and the money was in the automobile dealer’s bank account in
Trenton, New Jersey. |

On or about August 25, 2004, MORRIS wire transferred $9,348 for the benefit of
HARRISON from his bank account in Cyprus to an automobile dealer in Trenton, New

Jersey.
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On or about August 25, 2004, HARRISON e-mailed MORRIS, informing him that the

car dealership was waiting for a final paymcnt of $9,476 for the car being purchased for
her by Bloom.

On or about August 25, 2004, HARRISON in Trenton, New Jersey accepted a Cadillac ,

-Escalade paid for by Bloom via wire transfers from bank accounts in Cyprus controlled .

by MORRIS,

On or about August 27, 2004, Bloom wire transferred $69,62G to an arms nmnufac_turer in‘l
Virginia. | | |

On or sbout August 28, 2004, HARRISON e-mailed Bloom, telling Bloom that he could
tell certain CPA-SC officials that shé authorized certain work to be performed by Bloom -
even though HARRISONlhad no lmow]édge of and did nof authorize the work tobe
perfbnﬁed. | | |

On or about September 2, 2004, HARRISDN ¢-mailed Bloom, infomﬁng him, “The truck
is Great!!! Ineéde.d a new truck. My old truck is a 1991 with well over 150,000‘ miles on
it'.. People I work wifh cannot stop qoﬁnmgnting on how much they love it. It dﬁves real
smooth like a sedan. As ybu know, pr [Stein} and I stay m touch; He told me fhe way

these State Dept guys are jerking you around. . .. So don't worry about the Stﬁtﬁ Dept

jerks. If there were any smoking guns, they would have been found months ago....”
. . .

On or about September 3, 2004, HARRISON e-mailed Stein, telling him, “Did you get
this message? I'll send you what you need, but we need to talk. Can 1 count on Phil
[Bloom] for payback? 1 have nothing other than what I carried out. Ihave no

investments like you do and I get paid badly where I work. You know I'm your friend
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" and Iwill always stand by you, but I need to know how much I'll end up with in the end.”

128. On orabout Sﬂptcmbcr 7, 2004, HARRISON mailed appmxlmately $30 000 in stolen
CPA funds from Trenton, New Jersey to Stein in North Carolma

129. Onor abuut September 13 2004, MORRIS wire transfcn'ed $124,962 in stolen CPA |
funds provided to him by Bloom from MORRIS’s bank acmunt in Cyprus to a recreation |
vehicle dealer’s bank account in Georgla for thc benefit of Stem

130.  On or about September 18, 2004, Stein e-mailed Bloom offering to assist him with
ge&ing paid on a CPA contract by .getti'ng WHEELER to help them, stating “I \;lel L
contact Mike W.heelcr,. he needs a few favor ﬁom me [sic)....” |

131.  Om or about Septemb.ér 23, 2004, Stein, at HARRISON'S request, mailed narcotic
prescription drugs from North Carolina to HARRISON in Trcnt.on, New Jers-ey. |

13}2. In or about 2004, WHEELER and others at WHEELER'S direction falsiﬁed certain
Firearms Dealer’s License documents and had at least two sniper rifles shtipped from an
arms mapﬁfacturer in Minnesota to Wisconsin.

133. In‘u.::r about September 2004, WHEELER, in Wisconsin, oﬁtained at least two sniper

| rifles, paid for with approximately $10,060 in stolen CPA funds that were wired to the
arms dealer in Minnesota by Bloom. - | |

134.  In or about September 2004, WHEELER h‘aﬁsported a sﬁipcr rifle from Wiscon;ﬁl to
. \ :
North Carclina and delivered it to Stein. |

135. | On or about Octob& 7, 2004, HARRISON e-mailed Stein, informing him that she would
'hélp Stein and Bloom with a CPA Inspector General audif of the CPA-SC in ekqha.ﬂge for

Stein and Bloom’s providing her with a car,
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On or about October 7, 2004, Stein, at HARRISON'S request, mailed narcotic

prescription drugs from North Carolina to HARRISON in Trenton New Jersey.
On or about Qctober 8, 2004, Eluorn e-mailed Stem, askmg Stein to obtain' WHEELER'
assistance in gettmg Bloom and hjs compames paid on a CPA confract, statmg “Contact,

Mike W, And make sure he backs up this story for the hbrary. S ,

On or about October 18, 2004, HARRISON e-majled WHEELER, informing WHEELER.

that she had spoken with Stein about obtaining approval of certain military awards.and
evaluation reports for HARRISON and WHEELER and that WHEELER should talk with
Stein about the ﬁwards and documents being apprﬁved. |

On or about October 20, 2004, Bloom wire transferred $32,900 from his account in
Sﬁtzalmd to Stein’s bank a'ccdunt in North Carolina.

Onor ébuut October 23, '1004, Stein, at HARﬁISDN’-S fequest, mailed nafcotic :
prescription drugs from North Cﬁmlina to HARRISON in Trqnton, New Jersey. -

On or about Janﬁary 20, 2005, HARR.ISONlmai]ed approximately $30,000 in stolen CPA
funds from Trenton, New Jersey to Stein m North Cgmliﬁa.

On ('317_ about May 2, 2005, 'Stein, at HARRISON’s r?:quest,' niailed.r:larcqtic pmséﬁpﬁnn
drugs from North Carolina to HARRISON in Trenton, New Jersey. o |
On or about Sept‘ember.ZS, 2005, WHITEFORD useﬂ compuier «softw#re to. erase files
and e-mails from his laptop computer prior to providing it to law enforcement agcnts |
On or about October 3, 2005, WHITEFORD, durmg a voluntary interview with federal
law cnforcement niﬁcers, falsely stated that he was unaware of problems with the blddmg

process at the CPA-SC and he thought it was a coincidence that all of the contracts
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“awarded to Blo-;:m for the Al Hillah Police Academy were in amounts below $500,000 ‘— |
Stein’s funding limit o
. 145,  On or about Nover-nber 30, 2005, HA}i.RISDN, during a voluntary interview with federal
law enforcement officers, falsely denied that she was aware that Stein received mcmieé _
from Bloom.

146.  On or about November 30, 2005, HARRISON, Iduring a voluntary interview with federal
law enforcement officers, falsely denied receiving wﬁapons and smuggling U.S. currenéjr
into thq United States from Iragq. | |

147.  On or about November 30, 2005, HARRISON frorn .New Jersey télephoﬁed WHEELER

| in Wisconsin and informed WIIEELER thaf federal agents had searched her hoiﬁe in
Trénton, New Jersey and asked her questions ébdut her conduct, CPA .ﬁmds,' mid
weapuﬁs in Irag. | | |
148, Qn or about November 30, 2005, in Amherst J unc'tipn, Wisconsin, WHEELER was found
in posse_:ssion of firearms paid for with stolcﬁ CPA funds, including, among s:;thm, one
aultomati.c ﬁssault rifle, one sniper rifle, and ‘two handguns, not registered to hirn in the
National Firearms Registration and Translfer Record.
149.  On or about December 14, 2005, in Tfentun; New Jersey, HARRISON wﬁs foundin.
 possession of ﬁreanns paid for with stolen CPA funds, including two handguns.

: |
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

COUNT.TWO
Bribery
" 18US.C.§§201and2

150. Pmagt'aphs 1-15 and 19-149 are realleged as though ﬁllly.stated herein.
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From in or about December 2003 through in or about December 2005, in the Republic of
Traq, outside of any particular judicial district, and elsewhere, defendant

CURTIS G. WHITEFORD,

~ as a public official, directly and indirectly, did corruptly demand, seek, receive, accept,

and agree to receive and accept things of value, in return for being influenced in the
performance of official acts and for being induced to do and omit to do acts in violation
of an official duty; that is, WHITEFORD solicited and agreed to accept, among other
things, a Nissan 350 Z sports car, a sport utility vehicle, money, a business class airline
ticket, a laptop computer, tactical gear, a Breitling watch, and an offer of employment
frc;m Bloom in return for providing favorable official action regarding CPA contracts

involving Bloom and Bloom’s companies.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 201(bX2)(A) & (C) and 3238.

COUNT THREE
Bribery
18 U.S.C. §§ 201 and 2
Paragraphs 1-15 and 19-149 are realleged as though fully stated herein.
From in or about December 2003 through in or about December 2005, in the District of
New Jersey, the Republic of Iraq, and elsewhere, defendant
DEBRA M. HARRISON,
as a public official, directly and indirectly, did corruptly demand, seek, receive, accept,
and agree to receive and accept things of value, in return for being influenced in the
performance of official acts and for being induced to do or omit to do acts in violation of

an official duty, that is HARRISON accepted, among other things, a Cadillac Escalade,
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money, and a business class airline ticket in return for providing favorable official action
regarding CPA contracts involving Bloom and Bloom’s companies.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 201(b)(2)(A) & (C) .

COUNT FOUR

Bribery
18 U.S.C. §§ 201 and 2

Paragraphs 1-15 and 19-149 are realleged as though fully stated herein.
From in or about December 2003 through in or about December 2005, in the Republic of
Iraq, outside of any particular judicial district, and elsewhere, defendant

MICHAEL B. WHEELER,
as a public official, directly and indifectly, did corruptly demand, seek, receive, accept,
and agree to receive and accept things of value, in return for being influenced in the
performance of official acts and for being induced to do and omit to do acts in violation
of an official duty; that is, WHEELER accepted, among other things, bottles of liquor,
tactical gear, and a business class airline ticket from Bloom, in return for providing
favorable official action regarding CPA contracts involving Bloom and Bloom’s
companies.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 201(b)(2)(A) & (C) and 3238.

COUNTS FIVE THROUGH FIFTEEN

Honest Services Wire Fraud

18 U.S.C. §§ 1343, 1346 and 2
Paragraphs 1-15 and 19-149 are realleged as though fully stated herein.

The Wire Fraud Scheme

From in or about December 2003 through in or about December 2005, in the District of
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New Jersey, the Republic of Iraq, and elsewhere, the Defendants,

CURTIS G. WHITEFORD,
DEBRA M. HARRISON,
MICHAEL B. WHEELER, and
SEYMOUR MORRIS, JR,,

together with Bloom, Hopfengardner, Steirl, and other persens known and unknown to
the Grand Jury, aiding and abetting each other, devised and intended to devise a scheme '

and artiﬁce: a) to defraud the Do) and to obtain money and property by means of false

and fraudulent pretenses and representatmns b) to defraud the CPA and to obtam muney

and property by means of false and fraudu]ent pretenses and representatmns, c) to defraud

and deprive the DoD and the CPA of their right to the honest and falth_ﬁll services of
WHITEFORD, HARRISON, WHEELER, and other Do]j .employees detailed te and
working for the CPA, perforrned free from deceit; favoritism, bias,‘ self'#enr'ic_hment, self-
dealing, conflict of interest and eoncealment. |

Purpose of the Scheme -

'The purpose of the scheme was t‘er defeﬂdants WHITEFORD, HARRISON, WHEELER,

MORRIS and others to enrich themselves by stealing, converting, and takirrg by fraud
money and property from the CPA and by soliciting and aeeeptirxg things of value from
Bloom and his compames in retum for favorable official action in derogation of their duty

of honest and falthfu] services to the DoD and the CPA.

Paragraph 17 of Count One of this Indictment is re-alleged as if set. forth in full.
Wire Communications
On or about the dates set forth below, for the purpose of executing the scheme and artifice
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to defraud, WHITEFORD, HARRISON, WHEELER, MORRIS, Bloom, Stein,

Hopfengardner, aided and abetted by each other, transmitied and caused to be transmitted

by means of wire in interstate and foreign commerce the following wire communications

~ in the form of writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds as set forth for in each count;

COUNT | Defendant Interstate Wire Communication .~ | Date On "TA

5 HARRISON E-mail sent by Stein from North Carolina :

MORRIS to HARRISON in New Jersey discussing | July 3, 2004
WHEELER .HARRISON’s and WHEELER s ‘-
WHITEFORD | smuggling cash into the United States

6 HARRISON E-mail sent by Stein from North Carolina o
MORRIS to HARRISON in New Jersey discussing | July 3, 2004
WHEELER CPA auditors’ review of CPA contracts -

' WHITEFORD -
7 HARRISON E-mail sent by HARRISON from New August 7, 2004
- | MORRIS Jersey to MORRIS in Romania, Bloom
WHEELER in Iraq, Stein in North Carolina, and
| WHITEFORD | another person in New Jersey informing

‘ | MORRIS that HARRISON was at an

automobile dealership in Trenton, New
Jersey and that HARRISON was
attaching banking instructions to the e-
mail for the purchase of MORRIS wiring
money to the antomobile dealer’s bank
account - ‘ E _

8 | HARRISON Wire Transfer of $9,348 by MORRIS for | August 10, 2004
MORRIS benefit of HARRISON from a bank in |
WHEELER Cyprus to the bank account of an

| WHITEFORD | automobile dealer in New Jersey
9 | HARRISON E-mail sent by HARRISON in New August 17, 2004
‘ MORRIS Jersey to Bloom in Iraq offering to help .
WHEELER Bloom account for weapons at the CPA-
WHITEFORD S8C :
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HARRISON Wire Transfer of $9,348 by MORRIS for | August 19, 2004
MORRIS benefit of HARRISON from a bank in = ‘
WHEELER Cyprus to the bank account of an

WHITEFORD | automobile dealer in New Jersey ’

1 HARRISON E-mail sent by HARRISON in New August 20, 2004
MORRIS Jersey to Stein in North Carclina .
WHEELER discussing MORRIS sending payments
WHITEFORD to an automobile dealer in Trenton, New

Jersey under $10,000 |
12 HARRISON Wire Transfer of $9,348 by MORRIS for | August 24, 2004
| MORRIS benefit of HARRISON from 2 bank in '
WHEELER Cyprus to the bank account of an
| WHITEFORD automobile dealer in New Jersey
13 HARRISON Wire Transfer of $9,348 by MORRIS for | August 24, 2004
MORRIS benefit of HARRISON from a bank in - o :
WHEELER Cyprus to the bank account of an
WHITEFORD - | automobile dealer in New Jersey _
14 | HARRISON Wire Transfer 6f $9,348 by MORRIS for | August 25, 2004
| MORRIS benefit of HARRISON from a bank in ' o
WHEELER Cyprus to the bank account of an
WHITEFORID} | automobile dealer in New Jersey

15 HARRISON Telephone call from HARRISON in New | November a0,
MORRIS Jersey to WHEELER in Wisconsin about | 2005
WHEELER Federal Agents Searching HARRISON’s ‘
WHITEFORD | home in Trenton, New Jersey -

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346, and 2.
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163,

164.

COUNT SIXTEEN

Interstate Transportation of Stolen Property
18 U.S.C. §§ 2314 and 2

Paragraphs 1-15 and 19-149 are realleged as though fully stated herein.

On or about July 2, 2004, in the District of New Jersey, the Republic of Irag, and

elsewhere, the Defendants,

DEBRA M. HARRISON and
MICHAEL B. WHEELER,

éided and abetted by each other, did unlawﬁxlly transport, transmit and transfér in
interétate and foreign commerce, éndds, wares, merch#ndise, securli'tiés aﬁd monej(, ﬁf the
value of $5,000 or more, that is approximately $330,000 in U.S. currency from oﬁtsidé
the Uruted Statcs to a place w1thm the Umted States, knowmg the same to have been

stolen, converted and taken by fraud,

A]l in violation of Title 18, Unjted States Code, Sections 2314 and 2.

COUNT SEVENTEEN
Interstate Transportation of Stolen Pruperty
18US.C. §2314
Paragraphs 1-15 and 19-149 are realleg:d as though fully stated herein.
On or about August 9, 2004, in the District of New Jersey and ¢lsewhere, defendant
DEBRA M. HARRISON,
did unlawfully transport, transmit and transfer in interstate and foreign commerce, goods,
wares, mérchandise., securities, and money of the value of $5,000 or mote, that is

approximately $30,000 in U.S. currency from New Jersey to North Carolina, knowing the

same to have been stolen, converted and taken by fraud.
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165.

166.

167.

168.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2314,

OUNT EIGHTEEN

Intérstate Transportation of Stolen Property
18 US.C. §2314

Paragraphs 1-15 and 19-14,9 are realleged as though fully stated herei;i; ; | o

On or about September 7, 2004, in thé District of New J ersey and éléewi:ére, defend_anf
DEBRA M. HARRISON,

did unlawfully transport, {ransmit and transfer in interstate and foreign commm.e, ‘guuds, |

wares, merchandise, securities, and money of the vaiﬁp of $5,000 or more, that is o

approximately $3,0,000  in U.S. currency from New Jersey to North Carolina, knowing the

same to have been stolen, converted and taken by fraud. | |

All in violation of Title 18, United Statéé Code, Section 2314.

COUNT NINETEEN
Interstate Transportation of Stolen Property
18 U.S.C. §2314 |
Paragraphs 1-15 and 19-149 are realieged as though fully stated herein.
On or about January 20, 2005, in the District of New Jersey and elsmhm,.dcfendant
DEBRA M. HARRISON,

did unlawfully transport, transmit and transfer in interstate and fdmigil commerce, goods,

. wares, merchaﬁd,ise, securities, and money of the value of $5,000 or more, that is
'approximately $30,000 in U.S, currency from New Jersey to North Carolina, knowing the

- same to have been stolen, converted and taken by fraud.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2314.
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. S COUNT TWENTY
Bulk Cash Smuggling
31 U.S.C. § 5332 and
18 US.C.§ 2
169. Paragraphs 1-15 and 19-149 are realleged as though fully stated herein.
170.  On or about July 2, 2004, within the District of New Jersey, the Republic of Irag, and
elsewhere, the Defendants, |

DEBRA M. HARRISON and
. MICHAEL B. WHEELER,

aided and abetted by each other, did knowingly and w:th intent to evade the funds
reporting requiréments uﬁder Title 31, United Stafes Code, Sactiohs 5316(a)(1)(A)

. and 5316(b), conceal more than $10,000 in funds and other monetary instruments on their
p:réons and in articles of ]pggdge and other containers, anti transport and traﬁsf"er such
funds and monetary instruments from a place outside the United States to 2 place within
the United States,

Ail in violation of Title 31, United States dei:, Section 5332 and Title 18, Unitéd States. ‘
Code, Section 2, o |
Money Laundering '
| 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(ii) and 2
171, Paragraphs 1-15and 19-149 are realleged as though fully stated herein. |
172.  Section 60501-1(a) of Title 26 of the Code of Federal Regulations requires that “any .
person . .., who, in the course of a tréde or business in which such person is #ngagﬁd,
reccives cash in excess of $10,000 in one transaction (or two or more related |

transactions), shall . . . make a rétum of information with respect to the receipt of cash.”
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This “return of information” is typically referred to as Internal Revenue Service Form

8300 (“IRS Form 8300"). |

+ 173.  Section 5331 of Title 31 of the United States Code makes it a criminal offense f'uf Sny.

K .person who is engagéd in a trade or business to fail té ‘ﬁle aan IRS Form 830(5 when the,

trade or business receives more than $10,000 in coins or currency in one transaction, ,

174. Section 5324(]3)(3) of Title 31 of the United States Code states, in relevant part, that‘ “[n]o
person shall, for the purpose of evading the reporting fequii*emems_ of .sectioﬁ‘5331 e
structure or assist in structuring, or attémpt to structui"e or assist m structuring, any.‘ :
transaction with 1 or more nonfinancial trades or businesses.” |

175. Defendant WILLIAM DRIVER is HARRISON's spouse and resided at HARRISDN’s
hoﬁne in Trentoﬁ, New J ersey. | | |

176.  On ‘or about the dates sét forth below, in the District of New Jersey and eléewhcr:, the

Defendants,

WILLIAM DRIVER and
DEBRA M. HARRISON,

aided and abetted by each other; as set forth below, did conduct and attempi to conduct
financial transactions knowing that the pmpérty involved in tiw transactions réptcéented
proceads of some fqrm of unlawful activity, with money tﬁat did, in fact, involve the
proceeds of SPééiﬁad unlawful activity, to wit the intcrétata trﬁhsportaﬁon of stol§n
property, knowing that the transaction was designed in whole or in part to afoid a

 transaction reporting requirement under Federal law:
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| COUNT | ' DEFENDANT/TRANSACTION | AMOUNT | ___ DATE:

21 Cash payment to a home $9,000 October 11, 2004
improvements company for the benefit .
of DRIVER and HARRISON,

22 Cash payment to a home | $9,000 November 12, 2004
improvements company for the benefit | ' '
of DRIVER and HARRISON,

23 .| Cash payment to a home $9,000 | November 24, 2004
improvements company for the benefit : ‘
of DRIVER and HARRISON.

24  |Cashpaymenttoahome $5,000 December 15, 2004
improvements company for the benefit | ‘ ‘ ‘
| of DRIVER and HARRISON.

Allin violation of Title 18, United Statcs Codes, Sections 1956(&)(1)(3)(11) and 2.

- ' COUNT TWENTY—M
Aiding and Assisting in Preparation and Presentation of False and Fraudulent Tax Return
26 U.S.C. § 7206(2) | |

177, Pafag]*ai)hs 1-15, 19-149, and 176 are realleged as though fully sté.ted herein. -

178.  On or about the date Iisted below, HARRISON siéned, ﬁled and c‘auééd to be filed with‘
the Internal Revenue Service (*IRS") all.s. hdiﬁduﬂ .]ncumc Tax Return, Forh 1040,
on behalf of herself and her husband, DRIVER, for the year 2004. This refurn
understated their specific adjusted gross income for 2004. |

" 179. During the calendar year 2064, HARRJSDN ha& and rcc:ived taxab]é. income of gboil_t

| $347,1l63 wllic::h'she failed to report to her tax preparer. |

180. Inor about March 2005, HARRISON mailed her tax in_comé infonnatic;n from New

| Jcrséy to her tax preparer in Pennsylvania, | | |

181.  The taX returns were signed by HARRISON and DRIVER and contained a written

declaration that they were signed under the penalties of perjury.
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182, On or about Junr': 10, 2005, in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere, defendant
DEBRA M HARRISON, |
willfully did aid aﬁd assist in, and proéure, counsel, and advise the preparation and
prcs‘enta'tion‘tu the Internal Revenue Service, of a U.S. Individual Income Tax R'etum,l
Form 1040 for the calendar yearl2004; which was false and fraudulent as to a material ,
matter, in that on line 36 the Retum reported adjusted gross income of $78,665 whiéh did
" not include additional income of HARRISON in 2004, wﬁereas ﬁARRISON then and |
there knew and believed she had r.ecci'vad additional 'i'ncomc in the form of payments and
other benefits from Bloom arid MORRIS as well as funds stolen from I'raq,l all during the
calendar year 2004, | |
All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2)
| CRIMINAL FORFEITURE |
183. Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(c), and Title 28, United States
Code, Section 2461 (c), WHITEFORD, HARRISON, WHEELER, and MORRIS, once
convicted of Count 1 (conspiracy) or Counts 2-19 shall forfeit to the United ‘Statrl,s the
following prﬂpcrt};: | | | |
a. Any property, real and personal, which constitutes and is derived from pmceeds
traceable to the violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 201, 371, 1341, 1343, 1346 and 2314,
, .
b, | A sum of mbney equal to the total amount of proceeds traceable to the violations
of 18 U.S.C. §§ 201, 371, 1341, 1343, 1346 and 2314 for which each defendant is

convicted. If more than one defendant is convicted of an uffense, the defendants

so convicted are jointly and severally liable for the amount involved in such
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184,

185.

186.

6ffense.‘
Pursuant to Title 26, United States Cn;:le § 5872 and Title 28, United Statcs Code § 2461,
WHITEFORD, HARRISON, WHEELER, and MORRIS once convicted of Cout 1 shall
also forfeit to the United States any firearm invdlved in the conspiracy to commit |

violations of 26 U.S.C. § 5861(d).

Pursuant to T:tle 31, United Statcs Code, Section 5332(b), HARRISON and WHEELER,

once convicted of Count 20 shall forfeit to the United States the fol]owmg property

a. Any property, real and personal, involved in the offense, and any pmperty

traceable to such  property.
b. A sum of moncy equal to the total amount of proceeds traceable, an amount not .-
less that $330,000, to the violation of 31 U.S.C. § 5332,
Pursuant to Title 18, United Statés Code Section 982, DRIVER and .HARRJSON,once_ |
convicted of Counts 21 through 24 (money laundering in violation of 18US.C. § 1956)
shall forfeit to the United States the following property: |

a, All right, title, and interest in any and all property, real and personal, involved in

~ the violation of Title 18, United S.tate:lé Code, Section 1956, for which the
defendant is mnvicted, and a11 property traceable to sueh pmperfy,.innluding the
followiﬁg: 1) all money or u;ther property that was the subject of each violatioﬂ of
Section 1|956; 2} all commissiﬁns, fees and other property constituting proceecis

“obtained as a result of those violations; and 3) all property used in any manner or

part to commit or to facilitate the commission of those violations.

b. A sum of money equal to the total amount of money involved irr each offensc in
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- 187.

1 : ' *

violation of 18 U.8.C. § 1956, as charged in Counts 21-24, for which each
defendant is qunvicted. |
The property to be forfeited in connection with the convibtious in Counts 1-24 includés
but is not limited to: | | | |
a.  One 2004 Cadillac Escalade automobile, VIN WPOAB299535696097;
b. Various firearms, ammunition and paraphernalia, including

1, Six (6) .45 Caliber weapons bearing Serial Numbers 23- 00995‘73 23.
0099574, 23-0099576, 23-0099577 23 0099578 and 23- 0099580

i Two (2) .308 caliber machme guns be.anng Serial Numhers DS.'23728
and D§23783; , -

- & OneBreitling Watch, bearing the serial number E56321; and

188.

d. | Real property Ilocated at3 I§y Court, Trenton, New Jersey.

Pursuant to Title 21, United Statés Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Titlle‘ 18,
United States Code, Section 982(b), the deféndant'shall forfeit substitute property, up to
the value of the amount described in the.forégoing para‘graph#, if, by any act or omission
of the defendant, the property described in such paragraphs, or any portion thereof, canﬁot
be-locatad upon the exercise of due di]igeﬁbe; has been transferred, sold to or deposited

with a third party; has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the coﬁrt; has been
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substantially diminished in value; or has been commingled with other property which

cannot be divided without difficulty.

- (Criminal Forfeiture, pursuant to Title 18, U]ﬁted States Code, Sections 981(a)(1)(c) and 982,

Title 26, United States Code, Section 5872, Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461, and Title

31, United States Code, Section 5332).
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